

1. Screenshot Open Journal Systems Abstract Review Result
2. File Abstract Review Result
3. Screenshot Open Journal Systems Full Paper Review Result
4. File Full Paper Review Result
5. ICRIEMS 5 Scopus-indexed IOP Conference Proceeding Acceptance
6. Final Recommendation of ICRIEMS 5 (30-07-2018)
7. Information from ICRIEMS (18-09-2018)
8. ICRIEMS updated information -- THE PROCEEDING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED!!  
(15-10-2018)
9. Proceedings of The 5th International Conference on Research, Implementation, &  
Education of Mathematics and Sciences now available online (19-10-2018)
10. Certificate



COMMITTEE

[Log out](#)

[Home](#) >

### Proof of Payment

## Proceedings 2017

## REVIEWED-ABSTRAK-Chatarina Enny Murwaningtyas.docx

# Option Pricing by Using the Mixed Fractional Brownian Motion

Chatarina Enny Murwaningtyas<sup>1,2, a)</sup>, Sri Haryatmi Kartiko<sup>1, b)</sup>,  
Gunardi<sup>1, c)</sup>, and Herry Pribawanto Suryawan<sup>3, d)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>*Department of Mathematics, Gadjah Mada University, Indonesia,*

<sup>2</sup>*Department of Mathematics Education, Sanata Dharma University, Indonesia,*

<sup>3</sup>*Department of Mathematics, Sanata Dharma University, Indonesia.*

<sup>a)</sup> [enny@usd.ac.id](mailto:enny@usd.ac.id)  
<sup>b)</sup> [s\\_kartiko@yahoo.com](mailto:s_kartiko@yahoo.com)  
<sup>c)</sup> [gunardi@ugm.ac.id](mailto:gunardi@ugm.ac.id)  
<sup>d)</sup> [herryprpbs@usd.ac.id](mailto:herryprpbs@usd.ac.id)

Commented [K1]: <sup>a)</sup>Corresponding author: ...

**Abstract.** Financial modeling is conventionally based on semi-martingale processes with stationary and independent increments. However, empirical investigations on financial data do not always support these assumptions. Fractional Brownian motion (fBm) is a continuous Gaussian process with dependent increments. Actually, the main problem of applying fBm in finance is that an option with fBm is not arbitrage-free. To handle this problem, it is reasonable to use a mixed fractional Brownian motion (mfBm) in order to capture fluctuations of the financial assets. The mfBm is a family of Gaussian processes that is a linear combination of a Brownian motion and an independent fractional Brownian motion. This paper deals with the problem of pricing European options by using mfBm. Based on quasi-conditional expectation and Fourier transform method, we present a pricing model for a stock option and obtain a pricing formula for European call options.

Simlitabmas NG

seminar.uny.ac.id/icriems

enny

← → ↻ ⓘ Not secure | seminar.uny.ac.id/icriems/schedule

Apps JurnalPublikasi Belajar USD SSO UGM UGM Mail Libgen YahooFin Scholar Researchgate GTras UGM JURNAL Other bookmarks

Proceedings 2017

REGISTER/LOGIN

Register

Login

5TH ICRIEMS

Conference Venue

Keynote Speaker

Committee

Author Guideline

Non Presenter Guideline

Instructions for Presentations

Visa Information

Publication Options

Contact us

City Tour

PARTICIPANT

List Speaker Participant

Non Speaker

City Tour

ICRIEMS Committee , Congratulations,

We are pleased to inform you that your full paper has been reviewed by a scientific team organized by the conference committee and the result indicates that your paper is **accepted** to be presented in the parallel session. If the reviewer has requested any revision, it must be revised. The committee also invites you to submit the first revised full paper until April 23, 2018. Please make sure that the author name and paper title are correct in the user account. Guidelines, payment method, and more information can be found in the website <http://seminar.uny.ac.id/icriems>. We look forward to seeing you soon.

ICRIEMS Committee

Reviewer 1

Name: Chatarina Enny Murwaningtyas

TITLE OF PAPER:

European Option Pricing by Using the Mixed Fractional Brownian Motion

Full Paper Review Result:

Accepted with minor revision

REASON/SUGGESTION ::

Format of the full-paper must strictly follow the guidelines in the conference, Grammar and punctuation must be Academic English style, Others as suggested below

Give the section "results and discussion" and give the comprehensive discussion from the theorem resulted. The other comments can be seen in the reviewed paper file.

General Comment:

📄

FULLPAPER-REVIEWED-Chatarina Enny Murwaningtyas.docx

Windows Taskbar

IND 14:49

# European Option Pricing by Using the Mixed Fractional Brownian Motion

Chatarina Enny Murwaningtyas<sup>1,2, a)</sup>, Sri Haryatmi Kartiko<sup>1, b)</sup>,  
Gunardi<sup>1, c)</sup>, and Herry Pribawanto Suryawan<sup>3, d)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Gadjah Mada University, Indonesia,

<sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics Education, Sanata Dharma University, Indonesia,

<sup>3</sup>Department of Mathematics, Sanata Dharma University, Indonesia.

<sup>a)</sup> Corresponding author: enny@usd.ac.id

<sup>b)</sup> s\_kartiko@yahoo.com

<sup>c)</sup> gunardi@ugm.ac.id

<sup>d)</sup> herryprians@usd.ac.id

**Abstract.** Financial modeling is conventionally based on semi-martingale processes with stationary and independent increments. However, empirical investigations on financial data do not always support these assumptions. Fractional Brownian motion is a continuous Gaussian process with dependent increments. Actually, the main problem in applying a fractional Brownian motion in option pricing is not arbitrage-free. To handle this problem, it is reasonable to use a mixed fractional Brownian motion in order to capture fluctuations of the financial assets. The mixed fractional Brownian motion is a family of Gaussian processes that is a linear combination of a Brownian motion and an independent fractional Brownian motion. This paper deals with the problem of European option pricing by using the mixed fractional Brownian motion. Based on quasi-conditional expectations and Fourier transform method, we present a pricing model for a stock option and obtain a pricing formula for European call options.

**Commented [WU1]:** The abstract should consist of objectives, methods, and results.

## INTRODUCTION

An option is a contract that gives a person the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell an underlying asset at a specific price on or before a certain date. The right to buy is called a call option and the right to sell is called a put option. The option contract can be either an American style or a European style. American options allow the owner to exercise his option between purchase and the strike date, while European options can be exercised only on the strike date. In this paper, we will concentrate on a European call option.

Black and Scholes [1] in 1973 proposed the famous Black-Scholes model in a stock market based on a geometric Brownian motion and gave an option pricing formula. A Brownian motion is a semi-martingale process with stationary and independent increments. The existence of short memory or long memory in financial stock returns has been an important subject of both theoretical and empirical research. If stock returns display the short memory or long memory, the series realizations are said to be not independent over time. This is the case of a fractional Brownian motion. A number of studies have tested the short memory and long memory hypotheses for the stock market returns, for example [2–8].

The Fractional Brownian Motion is a stochastic process introduced by Kolmogorov [9] in 1940. Mandelbrot and Van Ness [10] gave a representation theorem for Kolmogorov's process and introduced the name of fractional Brownian motion in 1968. The fractional Brownian motion has further been developed by Hurst [11,12] and Mandelbrot [13]. Nowadays, the fractional Brownian motion plays an increasingly important role in many fields of studies such as hydrology [12,14], insurance [15,16] and finance [17–19].

**Commented [WU2]:** Write the citation using [ ] without author's name. Check all citations.

The stochastic integral with respect to a fractional Brownian motion is different from the classical Itô integral because a fractional Brownian motion is not a semi-martingale. Duncan et al [20] introduced the Wick product in the definition of stochastic integration for a fractional Itô's formula. They also introduced Girsanov's theorem under the fractional Brownian motion. Hu and Øksendal [21] and Elliott and van der Hoek [22] show that there is no arbitrage if the Wick product is used in the definition of stochastic integration. Hu and Oksendal [21] derived a formula for the price at time  $t = 0$  of a European call option. Necula [23] extended the formula in [21] for  $t \in [0, T]$ . Moreover, Necula proved some results regarding the quasi-conditional expectation by using Fourier transform.

The formula for evaluation of a European call option obtained in [21] is arbitrage-free and complete market. However, Bender et al. [24] and Bjork et al. [25] still saw the possibility of arbitrage opportunities in the resulting model in [21]. Cheridito [26] and Bender et al. [27] proposed the mixed fractional Brownian motion to reduce arbitrage opportunities. A mixed fractional Brownian motion is a linear combination of a Brownian motion and an independent fractional Brownian motion.

The purpose of this article is to obtain the option pricing formula for European call options where the underlying price is assumed to follow the mixed fractional Brownian motion model. This paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces definitions and properties of a mixed fractional Brownian motion. Section 3 explores some results regarding the quasi-conditional expectation. Section 4 uses theorems in Section 3 in the study of the European option pricing. Section 5 concludes.

## MIXED FRACTIONAL BROWNIAN MOTION

Let  $0 < H < 1$ . The fractional Brownian motion with Hurst parameter  $H$  is the Gaussian process  $B^H = (B^H(t); t \geq 0)$  with mean  $\mathbb{E}[B^H(t)] = 0$  and covariance

$$\mathbb{E}[B^H(t)B^H(s)] = \frac{1}{2} \left( |t|^{2H} + |s|^{2H} - |t-s|^{2H} \right), \quad (1)$$

for all  $s, t \geq 0$ . Here  $\mathbb{E}[\cdot]$  denotes the expectation with respect to a probability measure  $\mathbb{P}^H$ . The process has the following properties :

- $B^H(0) = 0$  and  $\mathbb{E}[(B^H(t))^2] = t^{2H}, t \geq 0$ ;
- $B^H(t)$  has stationary increments, i.e.,  $B^H(t+s) - B^H(s)$  has the same distribution with  $B^H(t)$  for all  $s, t \geq 0$ ;
- $B^H(t)$  is  $H$ -self similar, i.e.,  $B^H(at) = a^H B^H(t)$  for  $s, t \geq 0$ ;
- $B^H(t)$  has continuous trajectories.

If  $H = \frac{1}{2}$ , then  $B^H(t)$  coincides with the standard Brownian motion  $B(t)$ . The constant  $H$  determine the sign of the covariance of the future and past increments. This covariance is negative when  $0 < H < \frac{1}{2}$ , zero when  $H = \frac{1}{2}$  and positive when  $\frac{1}{2} < H < 1$ . As a consequence, for  $0 < H < \frac{1}{2}$  it has a short memory and for  $\frac{1}{2} < H < 1$  it has a long memory.

A fractional Brownian motion is neither a Markov nor a semimartingale unless  $H = \frac{1}{2}$ . To avoid arbitrage opportunities, the mixed fractional Brownian motion is introduced by Cheridito in [28]. A mixed fractional Brownian motion of parameter  $H, a$ , and  $b$  is a stochastic process  $M^H = (M^H(t); t \geq 0) = (M^{H,a,b}(t); t \geq 0)$  defined by

$$M^H(t) = M^{H,a,b}(t) = aB(t) + bB^H(t)$$

where  $B(t)$  is a Brownian motion and  $B^H(t)$  is an independent fractional Brownian motion of Hurst parameter  $H$ .

## QUASI-CONDITIONAL EXPECTATIONS

In this section, we will present some results regarding the quasi-conditional expectation which is needed for the rest of this paper. These results were introduced by Necula [23] and then developed by Sun [19] and Xiao et al [18] for the mixed fractional Brownian motion. The proof of theorems in this section can be seen in [18]. Let

**Commented [WU3]:** Write the citation in this section if the equations are taken from the references.

**Commented [WU4]:** Write the citation if the theorems are taken from references.

$(\Omega, \mathcal{F}^H, \mathbb{P}^H)$  be the probability space such that  $B(t)$  is a Brownian motion with respect to  $\mathbb{P}^H$  and  $B^H(t)$  is an independent fractional Brownian motion with respect to  $\mathbb{P}^H$ .

**Theorem 1.** For every  $0 < t < T$  and  $\lambda, \varepsilon \in \mathbb{C}$  we have

$$\tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[\exp\left(\lambda\left(B(T) + \varepsilon B^H(T)\right)\right)\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] = \exp\left(\lambda\left(B(t) + \varepsilon B^H(t)\right) + \frac{1}{2}\lambda^2(T-t) + \frac{1}{2}\lambda^2\varepsilon^2(T^{2H} - t^{2H})\right)$$

where  $\mathcal{F}^H(t)$  is a  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by  $(B^H(s); 0 \leq s \leq t)$  and  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}[\cdot|\mathcal{F}^H(t)]$  denotes a quasi-conditional expectation with respect to  $\mathcal{F}^H(t)$  under a probability measure  $\mathbb{P}^H$ .

Using Theorem 1, one can determine the quasi-conditional expectation of a function of the mixed fractional Brownian motion as shown in the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.** Let  $f$  be a function such that  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}[f(B(T), B^H(T))] < \infty$ . Then for every  $0 < t < T$  and  $\lambda, \varepsilon \in \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$\tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[f\left(\lambda B(T) + \lambda \varepsilon B^H(T)\right)\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\lambda^2(T-t+\varepsilon^2(T^{2H}-t^{2H}))}} \exp\left(\frac{-(x-\lambda B(t)-\lambda\varepsilon B^H(t))^2}{2\lambda^2(T-t+\varepsilon^2(T^{2H}-t^{2H}))}\right) f(x) dx.$$

If  $f$  is an indicator function,  $f(x) = 1_A(x)$ , then we can easily obtain following corollary.

**Corollary 3.** Let  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$ . Then

$$\tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[1_A\left(\lambda B(T) + \lambda \varepsilon B^H(T)\right)\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\lambda^2(T-t+\varepsilon^2(T^{2H}-t^{2H}))}} \exp\left(\frac{-(x-\lambda B(t)-\lambda\varepsilon B^H(t))^2}{2\lambda^2(T-t+\varepsilon^2(T^{2H}-t^{2H}))}\right) dx.$$

Let  $\vartheta, \theta \in \mathbb{R}$  and for  $0 \leq t \leq T$ , consider the process

$$\vartheta B^*(t) + \theta B^{H*}(t) = \vartheta B(t) - \vartheta^2 t + \theta B^H(t) - \theta^2 t^{2H}. \quad (2)$$

From the fractional Girsanov theorem in [29], there exists a probability measure  $\mathbb{P}^{H*}$  such that  $\vartheta B^*(t) + \theta B^{H*}(t)$  is a new mixed fractional Brownian motion. We will denote  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^*[\cdot]$  as a quasi-conditional expectation under the probability measure  $\mathbb{P}^{H*}$ . Now, we have defined the process

$$\tilde{Z}(t) = \exp\left(-\vartheta B(t) - \frac{1}{2}\vartheta^2 t - \theta B^H(t) - \frac{1}{2}\theta^2 t^{2H}\right) \quad (3)$$

where  $0 \leq t \leq T$ .

**Theorem 4.** Let  $f$  be a function such that  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}[f(B(T), B^H(T))] < \infty$ . Then for every  $0 \leq t \leq T$ , we have

$$\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^*\left[f\left(\vartheta B(T) + \theta B^H(T)\right)\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] = \frac{1}{\tilde{Z}(t)} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[f\left(\vartheta B(T) + \theta B^H(T)\right)\tilde{Z}(T)\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right]. \quad (4)$$

Theorem 4 illustrates the relationship between the quasi-conditional expectation  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}$  with respect to  $\mathbb{P}^H$  and the quasi-conditional expectation  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^*$  with respect to  $\mathbb{P}^{H*}$ . Based on Theorem 4, a discounted expectation of the function of a mixed fractional Brownian motion is calculated in the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.** The price at every  $t \in [0, T]$  of a bounded  $\mathcal{F}^H(t)$ -measurable claim  $V \in L^2(\mathbb{P}^H)$  is given by

$$V(t) = e^{-r(T-t)} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[V(T)\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \quad (5)$$

where  $r$  represents a constant riskless interest rate.

## EUROPEAN OPTION PRICING

Commented [WU5]: Results and discussion

The purpose of this section is to derive the pricing formula for a European call option. Now let us consider a mixed fractional Black-Scholes market with two investment possibilities:

1. a money market account:

$$dA(t) = rA(t)dt, \quad A(0) = 1, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T, \quad (6)$$

where  $r$  represents the constant riskless interest rate.

2. a stock whose price satisfies the following:

$$dS(t) = \mu S(t)dt + \sigma S(t)d\hat{B}(t) + \sigma S(t)d\hat{B}^H(t), \quad S(0) > 0, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T, \quad (7)$$

where  $\mu$  is an appreciation rate,  $\sigma$  is a volatility coefficient,  $\hat{B}(t)$  is a Brownian motion with respect to  $\hat{\mathbb{P}}^H$  and  $\hat{B}^H(t)$  is a fractional Brownian motion with respect to  $\hat{\mathbb{P}}^H$ .

By using a change of variable  $B(t) + B^H(t) = \frac{\mu-r}{\sigma} + \hat{B}(t) + \hat{B}^H(t)$ , then under a risk-neutral measure, we have that

$$dS(t) = rS(t)dt + \sigma S(t)dB(t) + \sigma S(t)dB^H(t), \quad S(0) > 0, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T. \quad (8)$$

Using the Ito formula in [29], we obtain the solution of (8):

$$S(t) = S(0)\exp\left(rt + \sigma\left(B(t) + B^H(t)\right) - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right)\right). \quad (9)$$

Let  $C(t, S(t))$  is the price of a European option at time  $t$  with a strike price  $K$  and maturity  $T$ . We present the pricing formula for a European call option in the following theorem.

**Theorem 6.** The price at every  $t \in [0, T]$  of a European call option with a strike price  $K$  and maturity  $T$  is given by

$$C(t, S(t)) = S(t)N(d_1) - Ke^{-r(T-t)}N(d_2) \quad (10)$$

where

$$d_1 = \frac{\ln\left(\frac{S(t)}{K}\right) + r(T-t) + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T-t + T^{2H} - t^{2H}\right)}{\sqrt{\sigma^2\left(T-t + T^{2H} - t^{2H}\right)}}, \quad (11)$$

$$d_2 = \frac{\ln\left(\frac{S(t)}{K}\right) + r(T-t) - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T-t + T^{2H} - t^{2H}\right)}{\sqrt{\sigma^2\left(T-t + T^{2H} - t^{2H}\right)}}, \quad (12)$$

and  $N(\cdot)$  is a cumulative probability function of a standard normal distribution.

**Proof:** Motivated from Theorem 5, the European call option with a strike price  $K$  and maturity  $T$  is theoretically equivalent to

$$\begin{aligned} C(t, S(t)) &= \mathbb{E}\left[e^{-r(T-t)} \max\{S(T) - K, 0\} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[e^{-r(T-t)} S(T) 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} - Ke^{-r(T-t)} 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[e^{-r(T-t)} S(T) 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] - \mathbb{E}\left[Ke^{-r(T-t)} 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\ &= e^{-r(T-t)} \mathbb{E}\left[S(T) 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] - Ke^{-r(T-t)} \mathbb{E}\left[1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right]. \end{aligned} \quad (13)$$

Option holders would exercise the option only when  $S(T) > K$ . Solving for the boundary and using (9), we have

$$\sigma\left(B(T) + B^H(T)\right) > \ln\left(\frac{K}{S(0)}\right) - rT + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T + T^{2H}\right) \quad (14)$$

and set

$$d_2^* = \ln\left(\frac{K}{S(0)}\right) - rT + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T + T^{2H}\right). \quad (15)$$

Using Corollary 3, we have

Formatted: Indonesian



$$\begin{aligned}
\tilde{\mathbb{E}} \left[ 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t) \right] &= \tilde{\mathbb{E}} \left[ 1_{\{x > d_2^*\}} \left( \sigma \left( B(T) + B^H(T) \right) \right) \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t) \right] \\
&= \int_{d_2^*}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}} \exp \left( -\frac{\left( x - \sigma \left( B(t) + B^H(t) \right) \right)^2}{2\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})} \right) dx \\
&= \int_{\frac{d_2^* - \sigma(B(t) + B^H(t))}{\sqrt{\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp \left( -\frac{z^2}{2} \right) dz \\
&= \int_{\frac{\sigma(B(t) + B^H(t)) - d_2^*}{\sqrt{\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp \left( -\frac{z^2}{2} \right) dz \\
&= N(d_2)
\end{aligned} \tag{16}$$

where  $d_2 = \frac{\sigma(B(t) + B^H(t)) - d_2^*}{\sqrt{\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}}$ . Furthermore, (9) can be write

$$\sigma(B(t) + B^H(t)) = \ln \left( \frac{S(t)}{S(0)} \right) - rt + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 (t + t^{2H}). \tag{17}$$

Hence, we have

$$\begin{aligned}
d_2 &= \frac{\sigma B(t) + \sigma B^H(t) - d_2^*}{\sqrt{\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}} \\
&= \frac{\ln \left( \frac{S(t)}{S(0)} \right) - rt + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 (t + t^{2H}) - \left( \ln \left( \frac{K}{S(0)} \right) - rT + \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 (T + T^{2H}) \right)}{\sqrt{\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}} \\
&= \frac{\ln \left( \frac{S(t)}{K} \right) + r(T-t) - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 (T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}{\sqrt{\sigma^2(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H})}}.
\end{aligned} \tag{18}$$

Let us consider the process

$$\sigma(B^*(t) + B^{H^*}(t)) = \sigma(B(t) + B^H(t)) - \sigma^2(t + t^{2H}), \tag{19}$$

for  $t \in [0, T]$ . The fractional Girsanov theorem assures us that there is the probability measure  $\mathbb{P}^{H^*}$  such that  $\sigma(B^*(t) + B^{H^*}(t))$  is the mixed fractional Brownian motion under  $\mathbb{P}^{H^*}$ . We will denote

$$\tilde{Z}(t) = \exp \left( \sigma(B(t) + B^H(t)) - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 (t + t^{2H}) \right) \tag{20}$$

Using Theorem 4 and (20) we have that

$$\tilde{\mathbb{E}} \left[ S(T) 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t) \right] = \tilde{\mathbb{E}} \left[ S(0) e^{\left( rT + \sigma(B(T) + B^H(T)) - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 (T + T^{2H}) \right)} 1_{\{S(T) > K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t) \right]$$

$$\begin{aligned}
\tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[S(T)1_{\{S(T)>K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] &= S(0)e^{rT}\tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[\tilde{Z}(T)1_{\{S(T)>K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\
&= \tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[S(0)e^{rT}e^{\left(\sigma(B(T)+B^H(T))-\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2(T+T^{2H})\right)}1_{\{S(T)>K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\
&= S(0)e^{rT}\tilde{\mathbb{E}}\left[\tilde{Z}(T)1_{\{x>d_2^*\}}\left(\sigma(B(T)+B^H(T))\right) \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\
&= S(0)e^{rT}\tilde{Z}(t)\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^*\left[1_{\{x>d_2^*\}}\left(\sigma(B(T)+B^H(T))\right) \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\
&= S(0)e^{rT}\tilde{Z}(t)\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^*\left[1_{\{S(T)>K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right]
\end{aligned} \tag{21}$$

Substituting (19) into (9) is obtained

$$\begin{aligned}
S(t) &= S(0)\exp\left(rt + \sigma\left(B(t) + B^H(t)\right) - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right)\right) \\
&= S(0)\exp\left(rt + \left(\sigma\left(B^*(t) + B^{H*}(t)\right) + \sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right)\right) \\
&= S(0)\exp\left(rt + \sigma\left(B^*(t) + B^{H*}(t)\right) + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right)\right).
\end{aligned} \tag{22}$$

Solving for the boundary  $S(T) > K$  and using (22) in time  $T$ , we have

$$\sigma\left(B^*(T) + B^{H*}(T)\right) > \ln\left(\frac{K}{S(0)}\right) - rT - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T + T^{2H}\right).$$

If we denote

$$d_1^* = \ln\left(\frac{K}{S(0)}\right) - rT - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T + T^{2H}\right), \tag{23}$$

we get

$$\begin{aligned}
\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^*\left[1_{\{S(T)>K\}} \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] &= \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^*\left[1_{\{x>d_1^*\}}\left(\sigma\left(B^*(T) + B^{H*}(T)\right)\right) \middle| \mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\
&= \int_{d_1^*}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma^2\left(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H}\right)}} \exp\left(-\frac{\left(x - \sigma\left(B^*(t) + B^{H*}(t)\right)\right)^2}{2\sigma^2\left(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H}\right)}\right) dx \\
&= \frac{\int_{d_1^*}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{z^2}{2}\right) dz}{\frac{\sigma\left(B^*(t) + B^{H*}(t)\right) - d_1^*}{\sqrt{\sigma^2\left(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H}\right)}}} \\
&= \int_{-\infty}^{\frac{\sigma\left(B^*(t) + B^{H*}(t)\right) - d_1^*}{\sqrt{\sigma^2\left(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H}\right)}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{z^2}{2}\right) dz \\
&= N(d_1)
\end{aligned} \tag{24}$$

where  $d_1 = \frac{\sigma\left(B^*(t) + B^{H*}(t)\right) - d_1^*}{\sqrt{\sigma^2\left(T-t+T^{2H}-t^{2H}\right)}}$ . Furthermore, (22)(22) can be written as

$$\sigma\left(B^*(t) + B^{H*}(t)\right) = \ln\left(\frac{S(t)}{S(0)}\right) - rt - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right). \tag{25}$$

Using (23)(23) and (25)(25), we get

Formatted: Indonesian

Formatted: Indonesian

Formatted: Indonesian

$$d_1 = \frac{\ln\left(\frac{S(t)}{S(0)}\right) - rt - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right) - \left(\ln\left(\frac{K}{S(0)}\right) - rT - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T + T^{2H}\right)\right)}{\sqrt{\sigma^2\left(T - t + T^{2H} - t^{2H}\right)}}$$

$$= \frac{\ln\left(\frac{S(t)}{K}\right) + r(T - t) + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(T - t + T^{2H} - t^{2H}\right)}{\sqrt{\sigma^2\left(T - t + T^{2H} - t^{2H}\right)}}.$$

Substitution of (24) into (21) yields

$$\begin{aligned}\mathbb{E}\left[S(T)1_{\{S(T)>K\}}\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] &= S(0)e^{rT}\tilde{Z}(t)\mathbb{E}^*\left[1_{\{S(T)>K\}}\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\ &= S(0)e^{rT}\tilde{Z}(t)N(d_1) \\ &= S(0)e^{rT}\exp\left(\sigma\left(B(t) + B^H(t)\right) - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right)\right)N(d_1) \\ &= e^{rT}e^{-rt}S(0)\exp\left(\sigma\left(B(t) + B^H(t)\right) + rt - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\left(t + t^{2H}\right)\right)N(d_1) \\ &= e^{r(T-t)}S(t)N(d_1).\end{aligned}\tag{26}$$

Finally, from (16), (26) and (13) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned}C((t, S(t))) &= e^{-r(T-t)}\mathbb{E}\left[S(T)1_{\{S(T)>K\}}\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] - Ke^{-r(T-t)}\mathbb{E}\left[1_{\{S(T)>K\}}\middle|\mathcal{F}^H(t)\right] \\ &= e^{-r(T-t)}e^{r(T-t)}S(t)N(d_1) - Ke^{-r(T-t)}N(d_2) \\ &= S(t)N(d_1) - Ke^{-r(T-t)}N(d_2).\end{aligned}$$

Thus, the proof of the theorem is complete. ■

## CONCLUSION

In this paper, to capture the long memory property and to exclude the arbitrage opportunity in fractional Brownian motion, the underlying price is assumed to follow the mixed fractional Brownian motion. By using the theory of the quasi-conditional expectation, we present a closed-form option pricing formula for European call options. This formula can be used by investors to predict the option price for a stock that has long memory properties.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research has been made possible due to support from some parties. The authors thank Directorate of Research and Community Service; Directorate General of Research Strengthening and Development; Ministry of Research, Technology and Higher Education of the Republic of Indonesia to the funding of PDD-2018 with contract number 109/SP2H/LT/DRPM/2018 for this work.

## REFERENCES

1. F. Black and M. Scholes, *J. Polit. Econ.* 637–654 (1973).
2. A.W. Lo, *Econometrica* **59**, 1279–1313 (1991).
3. T.C. Mills, *Appl. Financ. Econ.* **3**, 303–306 (1993).
4. Y.-W. Cheung and K.S. Lai, *J. Int. Money Financ.* **14**, 597–615 (1995).
5. C. Necula and A.-N. Radu, *Econ. Res. Istraživanja* **25**, 316–377 (2012).
6. J. Goddard and E. Onali, *Econ. Lett.* **117**, 253–255 (2012).
7. D.O. Cajueiro and B.M. Tabak, *Chaos, Solitons and Fractals* **40**, 1559–1573 (2009).
8. E.N. Gyamfi, K. Kyei, and R. Gill, *EuroEconomica* **35**, 83–91 (2016).
9. A.N. Kolmogorov, *C. R. Acad. Sci. URSS* **26**, 115–118 (1940).
10. B.B. Mandelbrot and J.W. Van Ness, *SIAM Rev.* **10**, 422–437 (1968).

Formatted: Indonesian

Commented [WU6]: Give the comprehensive discussion for the theorems resulted.

Commented [WU7]: This section consist of answering of the objectives and may contain the future research.

11. H.E. Hurst, *Am. Soc. Civ. Eng. Trans.* **116**, 770–808 (1950).
12. H.E. Hurst, *Trans. Am. Soc. Civ. Eng.* **116**, 770–799 (1951).
13. B.B. Mandelbrot and J.A. Wheeler, *Am. J. Phys.* **51**, 286–287 (1983).
14. F.J. Molz, H.H. Liu, and J. Szulga, *Water Resour. Res.* **33**, 2273–2286 (1997).
15. H.Y. Zhang, L.H. Bai, and A.M. Zhou, *Stat. Probab. Lett.* **79**, 473–480 (2009).
16. F. Shokrollahi and A. Kılıçman, *Adv. Differ. Equations* **2015**, 257 (2015).
17. S. Rostek and R. Schöbel, *Econ. Model.* **30**, 30–35 (2013).
18. W.-L. Xiao, W.-G. Zhang, X.X. Zhang, and X.X. Zhang, *Phys. A Stat. Mech. Its Appl.* **391**, 6418–6431 (2012).
19. L. Sun, *Phys. A Stat. Mech. Its Appl.* **392**, 3441–3458 (2013).
20. T.E. Duncan, Y. Hu, and B. Pasik-Duncan, *SIAM J. Control Optim.* **38**, 582–612 (2000).
21. Y. Hu and B. Øksendal, *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top.* **6**, 1–32 (2003).
22. R.J. Elliott and J. Van der Hoek, in *Math. Financ.* (Springer, 2001), pp. 140–151.
23. C. Necula, *Adv. Econ. Financ. Res. - DOFIN Work. Pap. Ser.* 1–18 (2002).
24. C. Bender and R.J. Elliott, *Math. Oper. Res.* **29**, 935–945 (2004).
25. T. Björk and H. Hult, *Financ. Stochastics* **9**, 197–209 (2005).
26. P. Cheridito, *Financ. Stochastics* **7**, 533–553 (2003).
27. C. Bender, T. Sottinen, and E. Valkeila, *Theory Stoch. Process.* **13**, 23–34 (2007).
28. P. Cheridito, *Bernoulli* **7**, 913–934 (2001).
29. F. Biagini, Y. Hu, B. Øksendal, and T. Zhang, *Stochastic Calculus for Fractional Brownian Motion and Applications* (Springer, 2008).



## International Conference on Research, Implementation and Education of Mathematics and Science (ICRIEMS)

Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Science, Yogyakarta State University  
Jl. Colombo 1 Karangmalang Yogyakarta 55281, Phone +62 274 586168  
<http://seminar.uny.ac.id/icriems>, e-mail: [icriems@uny.ac.id](mailto:icriems@uny.ac.id)

No : 42/UN34.13/ICRIEMS/2018

27 July 2018

Re : ICRIEMS 5 Scopus-indexed IOP Conference Proceeding Acceptance

Dear Chatarina Enny Murwaningtyas

Congratulations,

We are pleased to inform that your paper entitled

### European Option Pricing by Using the Mixed Fractional Brownian Motion

has been recommended for publication in ICRIEMS 5 Scopus-indexed IOP Conference Proceeding (Journal of Physics: Conference Series). You are requested to send your camera-ready version in word document. Also, you **must follow** the reviewers' comments and IOP template, and pass Turnitin. The IOP template can be downloaded in our website (<http://bit.ly/ICRIEMS5>).

We require the following items in the document:

1. Paper size is European A4; margins are at least 25 mm all round; NO page number, headers or footers.
2. The text is single spaced and all pages are portrait.
3. The paper includes the author name and affiliation (full address including country).
4. The file is free of formatting errors (e.g. corrupt equations, missing or poor-resolution figures) and editable or not password protected.
5. Reference lists are checked for accuracy. References can only be linked via CrossRef if they are correct and complete.
6. Figures are placed within the text, not collected at the end of the document.
7. The paper is thoroughly proofread to check standard of English and ensure wording is clear and concise.
8. The paper should be checked by TURNITIN program for the authenticity. The similarity should be less than 30%.
9. The proof of ICRIEMS 5 Scopus-indexed IOP Conference Proceeding Fee Payment (**\$75 /Rp 1.100.000**) should be paid by August 24, 2018.

Please upload the document by August 24, 2018 along with the TURNITIN result and proof of ICRIEMS 5 Scopus-indexed IOP Conference Proceeding Fee Payment. In order to avoid delay in the publication process, please meet the deadline. Please note that the document received after the deadline may not be considered to publish in the ICRIEMS 5 Scopus-indexed IOP Conference Proceeding. If you feel that you could not meet the need, please choose another option in your account.

We thank you for your cooperation and patience.

Best Regards,  
ICRIEMS 5 Committee

Ketua Panitia



Agung W. Subiantoro, Ed.D.  
NIP. 19810127 200501 1 002

## Final Recommendation of ICRIEMS 5

ICRIEMS FMIPA UNY <icriems@uny.ac.id>

Sen 30/07/2018 09.33

Dear Participants,

We are pleased to inform you that final recommendation for your article submitted to ICRIEMS 5, has been released.

Please log in to your account on <http://seminar.uny.ac.id/icriems/> and see the result in the **"User Area"** menu.

If you agree with the recommendation, please choose "Accepting". If you want to cancel your article, please choose "Withdrawing" button. Your choice should be pasted in the blank space on your account. Please follow the recommendation and instruction available your user account in the website.

Please remember that you have to submit your revised article before August 24, 2018 with all the documents needed.

We apologize for delaying the final announcement. We also thank you for your patience and understanding.

Best Regards,  
ICRIEMS 5 Committee

-----  
Untuk mendukung "Gerakan UNY Hijau", disarankan tidak mencetak email ini dan lampirannya.

(To support the "Green UNY movement", it is recommended not to print the contents of this email and its attachments)

Universitas Negeri Yogyakarta

[www.uny.ac.id](http://www.uny.ac.id)

-----

## Information from ICRIEMS

ICRIEMS FMIPA UNY <icriems@uny.ac.id>

Sel 18/09/2018 12.15

Dear ICRIEMS participants,

We are glad to inform you that your manuscript has been submitted to the Journal of Physics: Conference Series (JPCS) from IOP Publishing.

If there are no other circumstances, the entire process may take roughly 3-6 months from the submission.

We will update you once we receive an update from the IOP. Please check your email regularly or visit our ICRIEMS website.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Best Regards,

ICRIEMS 5 Committee

---

Untuk mendukung "Gerakan UNY Hijau", disarankan tidak mencetak email ini dan lampirannya.

(To support the "Green UNY movement", it is recommended not to print the contents of this email and its attachments)

Universitas Negeri Yogyakarta

[www.uny.ac.id](http://www.uny.ac.id)

---

**ICRIEMS updated information -- THE PROCEEDING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED!!**

ICRIEMS FMIPA UNY <icriems@uny.ac.id>

Sen 15/10/2018 13.04

Dear ICRIEMS participants,

We are glad to inform you that "The 5th International Conference on Research, Implementation, & Education of Mathematics and Sciences Proceeding" has been published in the Journal of Physics: IOP Conference Series. Please visit <http://iopscience.iop.org/issue/1742-6596/1097/1>.

We are thank you for your cooperation and patience during the submission process.

Best Regards,

ICRIEMS 5 Committee

-----  
Untuk mendukung "Gerakan UNY Hijau", disarankan tidak mencetak email ini dan lampirannya.

(To support the "Green UNY movement", it is recommended not to print the contents of this email and its attachments)

Universitas Negeri Yogyakarta

[www.uny.ac.id](http://www.uny.ac.id)

-----



## Proceedings of The 5th International Conference on Research, Implementation, & Education of Mathematics and Sciences now available online

IOP Conference Series team <jpcs@iop.org>  
melalui msgfocus.com

Jum 19/10/2018 22.06

Kepada: Enny Murwaningtyas <enny@usd.ac.id>

Your article [European option pricing by using a mixed fractional Brownian motion]European option pricing by using a mixed fractional Brownian motion is online.

Visit [iopscience.org/jpcs](http://iopscience.org/jpcs) | [View this email online](#) | [Unsubscribe](#)



### Proceedings of The 5th International Conference on Research, Implementation, & Education of Mathematics and Sciences.

Thank you for publishing your paper '[European option pricing by using a mixed fractional Brownian motion](#)' in the *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*™. Your article has now been published online.

#### Create an account in ScholarOne

As part of our commitment to provide the best possible publishing service to our authors, we encourage you to [create an account in ScholarOne](#), so you can benefit from the following:

- Invitations to write and referee papers in your research area
- Stay up-to-date on resources available to help you with getting your work published and promoted
- Associate your existing ORCID ID with your account or [create a free ORCID iD](#)

[Create a ScholarOne account >>](#)

Thank you, and we hope to work with you again soon.

Anete Ashton, Conference Commissioning Editor  
[Journal of Physics: Conference Series](#)  
[jpcs@iop.org](mailto:jpcs@iop.org)

**IOPscience**

IOP Publishing Ltd, Temple Circus, Temple Way, Bristol BS1 6HG a registered company in England and Wales under company number 00467514.

For information about how we use your personal data, please see our [privacy policy](#).





# Certificate

Ref: 1109/UN34.13/TU/2018

This is to certify that

*Chatarina Enny Murwaningtyas*

has participated in

**The 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Research, Implementation and Education of Mathematics and Science**

Organized by Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Science,  
Yogyakarta State University, Indonesia  
on May 7-8, 2018

as a

*Presenter*

with the paper entitled:

European Option Pricing by Using the Mixed Fractional Brownian Motion

Dean,

Dr. Hartono  
NIP.19620329 198702 1 002

Yogyakarta, May 8, 2018  
The Head of Committee



**ICRIEMS**  
**FMIPA UNY**

Dr. Agung W. Subianto  
NIP.19810127 200501 1 002